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From the late C18 to the mid-C20, Tuckenhay was a thriving industrial village with busy 
quays on Bow Creek.  During the C19 and early C20 coasters of up to 300 tons were regular 
visitors with cargoes of coal and timber for the paper mill and other industries.  This paper 
records three such vessels for which there is good evidence of them making their way up 
Bow Creek.  They were the Florence Muspratt, the Reedness and the Wagro 

 
 
1. The SV Florence Muspratt – Sailing Schooner 

 
The presence of the Florence Muspratt in Tuckenhay is recorded in the shipping movements 
columns of two newspapers.  On both voyages she was carrying coal from Briton Ferry Dock 
in South Wales.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   The Western Mail (18990819) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   The South Wales Evening Post (19110817)   



 
The Name 
 
Florence Muspratt, born in 1851, was the daughter of Richard Muspratt, an industrial 
chemist who in 1852 set up an alkali manufacturing plant in Flint in North Wales where he 
became a pillar of the local community being a JP, an Alderman and nine times Mayor of 
Flint.  In 1896 Florence married the Rev W.L.L. Nicholas, the Rector of Flint, at a grand 
wedding duly celebrated in the local newspaper.  Sadly, Florence died five years later in 
1901. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   The Rhyl Journal (18960613) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



The Ship 
 
Florence Muspratt gave her name to a sailing schooner launched at Burton Staither on the 
Trent, Lincolnshire in July 1872.  She was built by William Wray (1861-1871) as manager 
for John Wray & Sons and first registered at Chester by Alfred Dyson, another prominent 
businessman of Flint.   
 
Name Official number Flag IMO 

FLORENCE MUSPRATT  67961  GBR    

Year built Date launched Date completed 

1872  28/07/1872  08/1872  

Vessel type Vessel description 

Cargo General  Wood Sailing Vessel, Schooner 

Builder Yard Yard 
no 

William Wray (1861-1871) as manager for John Wray & Sons, Burton Stather   221  

Tonnage Length Breadth Depth Draft 
 / 96 nrt / 80.7 ft  21.5 ft  10.5 ft    

First owner First port of register Registration date 

Dyson & Co. - Alfred Dyson, Flint  Chester  30/08/1872  

Subsequent owner and registration history 

MNL.1900 Harry Manley, Porlock Weir, Somerset  

End year Fate / Status 
1917  Gunfire 05/09/1917  

Disposal Detail 
05/09/1917 captured and shelled by UC.50 when 10 miles north of Sept Îles, Channel Islands, on passage St Malo for 
Newport in ballast.  

Florence Muspratt Data 
 
In 1900 the Florence Muspratt was bought by Henry Manley originally of Chester then of 
Porlock Weir in Somerset.  It was used to the export coal from South Wales such as Port 
Talbot, Swansea and Newport to ports in France, Spain and South-West England such as 
Falmouth, Newlyn and Tuckenhay, returning with ballast of stone, iron ore or pit wood. 
  
The schooner did not have good fortune and twice was damaged on peacetime voyages. 
The first time was on 16 May 1877 while en route from Runcorn to Scarborough with a cargo  
of salt, when she struck rocks in the Sound of Islay.  The ship went over and filled with water, 
but was later raised and taken to safety. 
 
In November 1908 she was damaged again in collision with the 4300-ton steamer 
Drumlanrig which hit both the Florence Muspratt and the Plymouth ketch Britannia while 
running for Dover after sustaining serious damage in collision with the New Zealand steam 
liner Tongariro in thick fog.  
 
In the registration document dated before the war on 16 April 1913, 22 shares are owned by 
Robert Manley, a shopkeeper of Porlock Weir in Somerset and 42 shares by Harry Manley, 
a sailor from Porlock Weir. 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
   
 

Registration Document 19130416 



Log Book Jan-Jun 1915  



The Crew in 1915 
 
 
 
 
World War One 
 
The log book from 1915 shows Harry Manley was still the managing owner of the Florence 
Muspratt.  The crew comprised John W Redd of Minehead as master and August L 
Johansson (shown as Johanson) from Sweden as mate, along with William Gregory, Francis 

Newman, James Collins and Albert Davis.  
Places visited are the Cornish ports of 
Falmouth, Penzance and Newlyn as well 
as Cork, Cardiff, Port Talbot, Newport, 
Runcorn and London.  
 
On 5 September 1917 the schooner was 
travelling from St Malo to Newport in 
ballast when she was captured by UC-50, 
under the command of Kapitänleutnant 
Rudolf Seuffer, and sunk with gunfire 
10km north of Sept Îles in the English 
Channel. 

A pair of Type UCII U-Boats 
 
 



One crew member died, the Mate August Lennard Johansson who drowned as a result of 
the attack. The 29-year-old was born in Teda Parish in Sweden, the son of farm labourer 
Karl Johan Johansson and Kristina Johansson (nee Nilsson). He is commemorated at 
the Tower Hill War Memorial in London. 
 
A document dated 24 September 1917 shows the closure of the register, in which the vessel 
is reported as having been sunk by an enemy submarine. Harry Manley was required to 
reply to the registrar to confirm the fate of the ship. 
 
 

     Closure of Registry 20170924  
 



2. The MV Reedness – Coastal Steamer 
 
The Reedness was a coastal steamer of 301 tons built by John Shearer of Kelvinhaugh, 
Glasgow and launched in 1903.  She was first registered to James Shiels of Belfast under 
the name Brookside. She was known later as the Bogo (1907 – 1923 Copenhagen), Keltic 
(1923 - Sunderland) Reedness (1923 – 1936 Goole/Liverpool) and Redthorn (1936 - 1938 
Liverpool). 
 

Reedness at Tuckenhay Quay 
 
 
The picture of the Reedness at Tuckenhay must, therefore, have been taken between 1923 
and 1936.  There is no record of the cargo but she was often referred to as a collier. 
 
On 21 November, 1938 the then Redthorn, whilst carrying coal from Garston, struck a 
breakwater near Coleraine in Antrim and a year later was broken up at Londonderry. 
Name Official number Flag IMO 

BROOKSIDE  116010  GBR    

Year built Date launched Date completed 

1903  06/10/1903    

Vessel type Vessel description 

Coaster   Steel Screw Steamer   

Builder Yard Yard no 

John Shearer & Son, Glasgow Front Yard  35  
 

Tonnage Length Breadth Depth Draft 

301 grt / 78 nrt / 135.3 ft  23.1 ft  9.6 ft    



 

Engine builder Muir & Houston Ltd., Glasgow 

Engine detail 

C.2-cyl. (16” & 34” x 24”) 59nhp 400ihp 10kn 1-screw  

First owner First port of register Registration date 

James Shiels, 
Belfast  

Belfast  23/10/1903  

Other names 

1907 BOGO / BOGØ - 1923 KELTIC - 1923 REEDNESS - 15/01/1936 REDTHORN  

Subsequent owner and registration history 

18/05/1907 Det Forenede Dampskipsselskab (DFDS) - mng Admiral A de Richelieu, Copenhagen - reg Copenhagen 
16/04/1923 James Kell, Sunderland - reg Sunderland 
30/08/1923 Frederick Fish, Goole - reg Goole 
04/09/1923 Reedness Steamship Co Ltd - mng Frederick Fish, Goole 
21/05/1931 William J Ireland, Liverpool 
09/07/1936 Thorn Line Ltd - mng William J Ireland, Liverpool  

Vessel history 

05/10/1905 Whilst on a voyage from Dublin to Ardglass, grounded at Ballyquinton Point, near Portaferry. 
06/10/1905 Refloated and subsequently repaired. 
24/05/1907 Departed from Newcastle for Denmark. 
21/11/1938 Whilst on a voyage from Garston to Coleraine with coal, struck the River Bann breakwater and was put ashore on the beach at 
Portrush, County Antrim, being too cumbersome to negotiate the narrow Portrush Harbour entrance. 
09/12/1938 Refloated and taken to Londonderry for inspection, subsequently declared a constructive total loss and sold for demolition 
locally.  

Remarks 

1923 290g 113n; 1933 291g 112n  

End year Fate / Status 

1939  Broken Up   

Disposal Detail 

16/06/1939 Reported as demolished (following collision and grounding)  
 

Reedness data 
 

Reedness at an Unidentified Port 



Reedness at Liverpool 
  



3. The MS Wegro – Dutch Coaster 
 
The Wegro was a Dutch coaster built in 1938 by Van Diepen Brothers of Waterhuizen, 
Groningen, Netherlands.  She was 281 gross tons and powered by two-stroke single-acting 
diesel engine.  The Wegro was the first ship to be locked through the Oostersluis lock at the 
official opening of the Oostersluis in Groningen, in the presence of HM Queen Wilhelmina.   
 
In 1940 the Wegro was chartered to the British Government and subsequently took part in 
the D-Day invasion of Normandy in 1944.  In 1945 she returned to the Netherlands and in 
1954 was re-named the Albion before transferring from Groningen to Harlingen two years 
later.  The Albion enjoyed a successful career as a coaster visiting ports in northern Europe 
and around the coast of Britain carrying cargos as diverse as timber until she was scrapped 
in 1872 at Sittingbourne in Kent. 
 

MS Wegro registered at Groningen, making its way up Bow Creek probably with load of 
coal for the paper mill c1938-54 
 
When photographed sailing along Bow Creek the ship carried the name Wegro and 
consequently this must have been taken between 1938 and 1954.  It is almost certain that 
she was carrying coal for Tuckenhay Paper Mill. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Identification Data 
Year of Construction:  1938 
Class Register:  British Corporation Register of Shipping and Aircraft (BC) 
IMO number:  5008784 
Nat. Official Number:  1873 Z GRON 1938 
Category:  Cargo vessel 
Propulsion:  Motor Vessel 
Type:  General Cargo ship 
Type of Deck:  Flush deck 
Masts:  One mast 
Rig:  2 derricks 
Lift Capacity:  2 tons each 
Material Hull:  Steel 
Decks: 1 
Construction Data 
Shipbuilder:                 Gebr. van Diepen, Waterhuizen, Groningen, Netherlands 
Yard Number:              836 
Launch Date:              19381005 
Delivery Date:             19381110 
Technical Data 
Engine Manufacturer:  NV Appingedammer Bronsmotorenfabriek, Appingedam,                                                                                                      
                                    Groningen, Netherlands 
Motor Type:                 Motor, Oil, 2-stroke single-acting 
Number of Cylinders:  4 
Power:                        195 
Power Unit:                 BHP (APK, RPK) 
Eng. additional info:    Brons Nr. 5731 Type T (240x360) 
Speed in knots:           9.5 
Number of screws:      1 
Gross Tonnage:           281 
Net Tonnage:               124 
Deadweight:                 310 
Grain:                           17000 Cubic Feet 
Bale:                             16000 Cubic Feet 
Length 1:                      40.40 Meters Length overall (Loa) 
Length 2:                      38.26 Meters Length between perpendiculars (Lbp) 
Beam:                           7.04 Meters Breadth, moulded 
Depth:                           2.68 Meters Depth, moulded 
Draught:                        2.64 Meters Draught, maximum 

 
 
 
 
 
  



Selected Events from the Wegro’s History 
(Translated from the Dutch originals) 
 

19381006 - Waterhuizen (A docks zone on 
a canal near Groningen): The MS Wegro, 
under construction for Captain J Wester of 
Groningen, has been successfully 
launched from the Gebr. Van Diepen NV 
shipyards here. The ship has the 
dimensions 37.00 x 7.00 x 2.85 m. and is 
equipped with a 195 hp Appingedammer 
Brons engine. The keel is being laid for a 
Shelterdek motor vessel for the account of 
Captain F Dekker of Rotterdam.  
 
19381105 - During the sea trials, the 
Wegro was given the honour of being the 
first ship to be locked through the 
Oostersluis lock at the official opening of 
the Oostersluis in Groningen, in the 
presence of HM Queen Wilhelmina.  
 
 
 
 

MS Wegro at the official opening of the  
Oostersluis lock in Groningen, in the  
presence of HM Queen Wilhelmina 
 
19381107 - As Wegro, being a motor cargo vessel, with a gross volume of 797.18 m3 
according to the tonnage certificate from The Hague dated 19381024 no. 5810, lying in 
Groningen, marked by J L Kleijn, ship's measurer in Groningen, by chiseling 1873 Z GRON 
1938 on the aft ship on the raised aft deck on the port side at the rear of the galley. 
 
19381111 - De Eemsbode (A Dutch newspaper): The motor vessel Wegro, captain-owner J 
Westers, completed a successful trial run on the River Ems yesterday. The Wegro was built 
by Gebr. Van Diepen in Waterhuizen under the supervision of the Shipping Inspectorate and 
Bureau Veritas, is approximately 310 tons dwt, and is equipped with a 195 hp Brons engine. 
A speed of almost 10 mph was achieved during the trial run. The Wegro will depart empty 
for Bremen, probably tonight. 
 
19381111 – Delfzijl (Dutch port on the River Ems) - The brand-new MS Wegro, built at the 
Van Diepen Brothers shipyard in Waterhuizen for Captain J. Westers of Groningen, 
completed a successful sea trial on the Ems. The ship is a smooth-deck vessel with a steel 
mast amidships on a deckhouse, which also houses two engine winches. It has dimensions 
of 37 x 7 x 2.85 M, while it weighs 330 tons. For propulsion, a Brons engine of 195 hp has 
been installed in the engine room, with which the ship reached a speed of over 10 miles in 
ballast condition. Furthermore, there is an auxiliary engine in the engine room for driving the 
pumps and the dynamo. All lighting is electric. The ship is neatly panelled and is further very 
modern and comfortably furnished, so that after the sea trials it was taken over by the captain 
with complete satisfaction. 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

MS Wegro on sea trials on the River Ems 
 
19400510 - At St. Malo with a load of coal. That day it diverted to Great Yarmouth. Taken 
over on May 16, 1940, by the Netherlands Shipping & Trading Committee, London 
(managers: Freight Express	Ltd, later London & Rochester Trading Co. Ltd). Time-chartered 
to the Ministry of Shipping, London, England, on 27 May 1940. Ministry of War Transport in 
1941. Participated in Operation Neptune (the Normandy Invasion). Returned to J. Wester, 
Groningen, on 1 June 1945. 
 
19541119 - Wegro becomes Albion. The MS Wegro, owned by Mr. J. Westers of Groningen, 
has been sold to Messrs. Damminga and Ploegman of Groningen, who will launch the ship 
under the new name Albion. The ship was built in 1938 by the NV Gebr. Van Diepens 
Shipyards in Waterhuizen and is a smooth-deck type. A 195 hp engine is installed in the 
engine room. The home port remains Groningen.  
 
19720923 - Departed Rotterdam for Colchester after being sold to Group Six Shipbreakers. 
On October 20, 1972, the engine was removed* at Acorn Wharf by Flame Cap. Ltd., 
Rochester, and subsequently sold to and scrapped by Mayer, Newman Co., Milton Creek, 
Sittingbourne, England. 
 
 
Further information  
 
The Florence Muspratt: https://burtonstatherheritage.org/shipping/104-florence-muspratt 
Including descriptions by S. Ablott  
 
The Wegro’s career as the Albion: https://www.marhisdata.nl/schip?id=7213 (in Dutch) 
 
 


